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1. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves a massive fake debt collection scheme that has defrauded thousands of 

consumers across the United States. Consumers receive telephone calls from Defendants' callers 

demanding immediate payment on a payday loan - and making serious threats of the 

consequences of not paying. But these consumers do not owe money to the Defendants. This is 

simply theft. 

Many consumers are hurting financially, and have applied online for a payday loan. 

Somehow the information from their loan application forms finds its way to this enterprise. 

Anned with this information, Defendants' callers contact consumers and demand that they pay 

the Defendants for delinquent payday loans. In many cases, the callers pretend to be police or 

other law enforcers, and tell consumers that they will be immediately arrested if they do not pay. 

In other cases, the callers pretend to be lawyers who are poised to file a lawsuit against the 

consumer seeking a huge sum of money. These claims are false. Although many of Defendants' 

victims actually do owe payday loans, they owe them to someone else. The callers are not with 

law enforcement, and they are not lawyers. No arrests are made and no lawsuits are filed. 

Unfortunately, all too often victims pay what the Defendants demand, usually by credit 

or debit cards. The money goes to the Defendants, who are here in the United States. The actual 

calls come from India. The Defendants pay for the phone lines used to make these calls, as well 

as for other expenses of this enterprise. 

Defendants' practices violate the Federal Trade Commission Act's ("FTC Act") 

prohibition of "unfair or deceptive acts or practices," 15 U.S.c. § 45(a). In addition, because the 

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA"), I 5 tJ.S.c. 1692, et seq., applies to the collection 

of "alleged" debt, this conduct also violates that statute. 15 tJ.S.c. § 1692a(5). 



This is a large operation. In less than two years, Defendants have collected more than $5 

million in over 17,000 transactions.' This type of fraudulent conduct has become a serious issue 

nationally. Even the online and payday loan industries are very concerned about deceptive calls 

like those placed by Defendants. Those groups have themselves received huge volumes of 

complaints about fake debt collectors. The Online Lenders Alliance, a trade organization for 

these lenders, has posted a consumer alert on its website to warn consumers about this very 

issue, as have several individual payday lenders.' Additionally, many state attorneys general, the 

FDIC, and the FBI's Internet Crime Complaint Center have also issued alerts to warn consumers 

about fraudulent payday loan collection calls.' 

We ask that the Court issue an exparte TRO ending the deceptive practices and freezing 

the Defendants' assets to ensure that they do not disappear, and thereby preserve the Court's 

ability to provide restitution to victims at the end of the day. 

Il. DEFEND~NTS 

The parties responsible for this outright fraud are two California limited liability 

companies and one individual who owns and directs them. American Credit Crunchers, LLC 

and Ebeeze, LLC are California corporations 4 Their owner and president is Varang K. 

Thakers Both companies hold themselves out as doing business from 10492 Villa Park Circle, 

, Plaintiff's Exhibit (PX) 1, McKenney~~ 20,66 (at least 17,956 total transactions, netting 
$5,415,492.10 after chargebacks). 

2 PX I, McKenney 11 62, Art. S pp 1-7, 9 (various industry consumer ale11s). 

3 Jd. ~ 62, Art. S, pp 10-25 (various government agency consnmer alerts). 

4 Jd. ~ 7, Art. A and ~ 8, AtL B (corporate records). 

5 ld. ~ 11, AtL D, ~ 14, AtL E, and ~ 36, Art. I (financial records). 
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Villa Park, California, which is the address on Thaker's driver's license6 ACC has an extensive 

website, which is registered to Thaker, and which describes the debt collection services that 

ACC purports to offer7 ACC's bank records, however, do not support any claim oflegitimate 

debt collection activities 8 The only evidence that Ebeeze engages in any business at all is the 

fact that the ACC website indicates it was "Designed & Developed by eBeeZe.nel."9 It 

apparently is used by Thaker primarily to transfer funds among ACC, himself; and some India-

baTj
11.0144 d55mpj
0.0203 Tc 10.6 0 .09utsourci10.8816 10.6178 0 0790.6 158.38 66 Td Tm88.8 



III. DEFENDANTS' DECEPTIVE BUSINESS PRACTICES 

A. The Consumer Victims 

Defendants target consumers who have at least applied online for a payday loan - though 

they may not have actually received one I2 Completing online payday loan applications typically 

requires consumers to disclose a wealth of personal details, including their social security 

number, place of work, and complete contact information B Somehow the information from 

loan applications has found its way to Defendants, though we do not yet know exactly how that 

happens I4 

Consumers who seek this type of high-interest, short-term loan often have serious 

" financial problems already, and many are struggling to make ends meet. Some consumers have 

received several of these online payday loans in the past. Moreover, consumers may not have 

maintained careful records of these transactions, or may be overwhelmed with bad finances. 

Thus consumers often believe the Defendants are actually collecting on a payday loan they 

12 PX 2, DeJulius ~ 2 (ex-husband used her personal information to obtain payday loan); PX 3, 
Ewing 1i 4 (obtained two payday loans and applied online for one, but did not receive a loan from the 
online application); PX 4, Huhn 113 (acquired some online payday loans); PX 5, Merola 115 (had acquired 
a payday loan); PX 8, White 11 4 (had obtained an online payday loan). 

I] Payday 

a
(I] )Tj
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they do 



October 2010, Merola'S wife received a phone call at home. The caller asked for Merola, who 

was at work.'; When his wifc indicated that Merola was not available, the caller told her that 

Merola would be arrested and imprisoned immediately ifhe did not pay what the caller claimed 

he owed on a paydayloan.26 Panicked, she called 



calls to the consumers 33 Some consumers are subjected to ongoing calls even after they have 

made a payment.34 

The scare tactics work and many consumers agree to pay the Defendants. Some, like 

Mark Merola, pay even when they do not believe they owe anything. The threats of arrest or 

costly litigation simply cannot be ignored. The claims made in these calls, however, and the 

basis of these threats are entirely false. None of the caJlers are law enforcement or attorneys. 

Obviously, consumers cannot be arrested for failing to pay a debt. No lawsuits are ever filed, 

because consumers do not actually owe Defendants anything. 

C. Payments Made in Response to the False Claims Are Collected by 
Defendants' 

The money taken from consumers who pay in response to these false claims goes into 

U.S. bank accounts owned and controlled by Defendant Varang K. Thaker.35 Once consumers 

agree to pay what the callers demand, that payment is typically made by credit or debit card. 36 

The payments are usuaJly several hundred dollars, though some consumers have paid much 

more37 The callers also email or fax the consumers a payment authorization form that 





Some consumers have contacted the payday lenders from which they previously 

borrowed, and were told that the collection calls from Defendants are fraudulent. Payments 

made by consumers to Defendants were not applied to actual debts owed to those lenders 44 

Consumers who realize that they have been scarnrned 

the to 



E. The Defendants Are Responsible for the Telephone Calls From India 

The telephone calls to consumers originate in India, and the Defendants provide the 

means for those calls to be placed. Defendants' bank records show significant payments to a 

"Voice Over IP" ("VoIP") service provider50 A sampling of records from the Defendants' 

account with the VoIP provider, which covers just eight months, shows that Defendants placed 

over 8.5 million calls to the U.S during that time, including nearly 160,000 to phone numbers 

with area codes in the Northern District of Illinois. 51 The records provide specific information 

about each call, including the telephone number to which it was made, the date, time and 

duration of the call, and the IP address where the call originated. 52 Included in the call detail 

records are calls to consumers who have complained to the FTC about threatening debt 

collection calls as well as calls to one of the FTC's consumer declarants." 

IV. ARGUMENT 

Defendants employ false claims that have defrauded consumers out of millions of dollars. 

These deceptive practices squarely violate Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.c. § 45(a) and 

the FDCPA, 15 U.S.c. §§ 1692, et seq. These include false statements 1) that Defendants ARGUMEN7 337.33 Tm
(false )0.05 9 290 cl.928619T
BT
290 1) bank
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law enforcement; 2) that Defendants are attorneys or associated with a law finn; 3) that the 

consumer has a legal obligation to pay a debt to the Defendants; and 4) that consumers will be 

arrested or imprisoned if they do not pay. 

The FTC seeks an ex parte temporary attorneys 4) 91 Tc 0.138 0 Td
(debt )Tj
 Tc 1.8 T7 113.29 preliminrneys cont; 



Travel Serv., Inc., 875 F.2d 564, 571 -72 (7th Cir. 1989). The court may also enter a temporary 

restraining order, a preliminary injunction, and whatever additional preliminary relief is 

necessary to preserve the possibility of providing effective final relief. World Travel, 86 I F.2d 

at 1026; see also Amy Travel, 875 F.2d at 571. Such ancillary relief may include an asset freeze 

to preserve assets for eventual restitution to victimized consumers. World Travel, 861 F.2d at 

1031. 

The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants under the FTC Act's nationwide 

service of process provision, 15 U.S.c. § 53(b), because Defendants have minimum contacts 

with theUnitedStatesc See FTCv Cleverlink Trading Ltd, No. 05 C2889,2006 WLI'735276, 

at *4 (N.D. Ill. June 19,2006) (Kendall, J .); FTC v. Bay Area Bus. Council, Inc., No. 02 C 5762, 

2003 WL 21003711, at *2 (N.D. Ill. May 1, 2003) (Darrah, J .). Moreover, under the FTC Act's 

venue provision, an action may be brought wherever a corporation "resides or transacts 

business." 15 U.S.c. § 53(b). Here, as shown by the call detail records, Defendants have 

transacted business in this district. In addition, venue is proper over a corporation wherever it is 

subject to personal jurisdiction. See Bay Area, 2003 WL 21 00371 I, at *2. 

B. The FTC Meets the Applicable Legal Standard for Issuance 
od94 324 Tmdg79 Tc 2.3suance More 

deta52 829426I)T
/T1_1 1 Tf
0.0052 Tc 11.3 0 4141.3 357.36 324 Tm
200dic426



private litigant, who generally must show a substantial likelihood of success on the merits, the 

FTC need only make the statutory showing of a likelihood of ultimate success. Id. And 



declarations demonstrate that these misrepresentations and overt threats often succeed in 

misleading consumers to make payments to Defendants. The misrepresentations are material, 

because they are likely to affect (and in fact have affected) consumers' conduct. The FTC has 

shown a likelihood of success on its claim that Defendants are violating the FTC Act. 

2. The Corporate Defendants Have Violated the FDCPA. 

Corporate Defendants are debt collectors engaging in deceptive and abusive practices 

that violate the FDCP A. Congress enacted the FDCPA in 1977 "to protect consumers from debt 

collectors' abusive debt collection practices." Fuller v. Becker & Foliakoff, F.A., 192 F. Supp. 

2d1361, 1%6 (M:D:Fla: 2002) (citingHawthvrnev.Macl1djustment.inc.~-140-P'.3d1367{ II (h 

Cir. 1998)). The FDCPA applies where the collection is regarding an "alleged obligation of a 

consumer to pay money," 15 U.S.c. § 1 692a(5) (emphasis addempm3T
02
0.02716 1.882 0884t
(cosis )Tj
0.8 196,1m8s r e g a r d i n g  



or legal status of any debt;" "false representation or implication that any individual is an 

attorney;" "representation or implication that nonpayment of any debt will result in the arrest or 

imprisonment of any person;" and "[ tJhe threat to take any action that cannot legally be taken or 

that is not intended to be taken." 15 U.S.c. §§ 1692e (2)(A), (3), (4), and (5). To detennine 

whether communications violate the FDCP A, courts "examine them from the standpoint of an 

unsophisticated consumer." Fields v. Wilber Law Firm, P. C, 383 F.3d 562, 564 (7th Cir. 2004) 

(citing Veach v. Sheeks, 316 F.3d 690, 692 (7th Cir. 2003». The same deceptive claims that 

violate the FTC Act are also violations of the FDCP A. 

3. -The-Equities Tip-Decine-dlyln the FTC's Favor. 

Once the FTC has shown a likelihood of success on the merits, the Court must balance 

the equities, assigning greater weight to the puhlic interest than to any of defendants' private 

concerns. World Travel, 861 F.2d at 1029. The public equities in this case are compelling, as 

the public has a strong interest in halting the deceptive scheme, and in preserving the assets 

necessary to provide effective final relief to victims_ See FTC v. Sabal, 32 F. Supp. 2d 1004, 

lO09 (N.D. Ill. 1998); Datacom Mktg., 2006 WL 1472644, at *5. Defendants, by contrast, have 

no legitimate interest in continuing to deceive consumers and persisting with conduct that 

violates federal law. See Sabal, 32 F. Supp. 2d at 1009; FTC v. World Wide Factors, Ltd., 882 

F.2d 344, 347 (9th Cir. 1989) 

no Td
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4. Varang K. Thaker is Individually Liable. 

Thaker is responsible for the deceptive practices of the corporations he controls, 



oft,cer "hard-pressed to establish that he lacked authority or control" over corporate entity); Amy 



C. An Asset Freeze and the Appointment of a Receiver Are Necessary and 
Appropriate. 

The relief sought by the FTC includes restitution for the victims of Defendants' 



would eliminate those risks with a minimal disruption of any legitimate business activity.60 The 

receiver also would be helpful in assessing the extent of 



V. CONCLUSION 

Defendants have caused and are likely to continue to cause substantial injury to 

consumers as a result of their violations of the FTC Act and FDCPA. The FTC therefore asks 

that the Court issue the requested injunctive relief to prevent ongoing harm and to help ensure 

the possibility of effective final relief, including monetary restitution. 

DATED: February 13, 2012 

Respectfully submitted, 

WILLARD K. TOM 
General Counsel 
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